**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS
OF WEST VIRGINIA**

SCA EFiled: Jul 20 2026
04:00PM EDT
Transaction ID 80079115

**In re: Petition for Reinstatement of
JARRELL LEE CLIFTON, II**

No. 24-330

**PETITIONER'S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF
PETITION FOR REINSTATEMENT**

Petitioner, *appearing pro se*,
Jarrell Lee Clifton, II
1010 3rd Ave
Marlinton, WV 24954
(304) 651-6699
clifton_jl@yahoo.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Procedural History

Petitioner Jarrell L. Clifton, II, (hereinafter "Petitioner" or "Mr. Clifton") was admitted to the West Virginia State Bar on November 6, 2007. On November 18, 2015, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia issued an opinion annulling Petitioner's law license due to his intentional and repeated violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct. Pursuant to Rule 26 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure, Petitioner's law license was annulled by Mandate issued December 22, 2015. Petitioner was ordered to pay costs of \$7,471.30.

On or about June 12, 2024, Petitioner filed with the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia his Petition for Reinstatement [Jt. Ex. 1], and the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel (hereinafter "ODC") commenced an investigation thereof. The ODC reviewed Petitioner's Petition, his completed Reinstatement Questionnaire and additional documents provided therewith, and the file from the underlying disciplinary matter. The ODC obtained Petitioner's state and federal criminal background records. The ODC also obtained copies of Petitioner's federal tax returns for the years 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022, and 2023 as well as his state tax returns for the years 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023. Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel took Petitioner's sworn statement on January 30, 2025. A legal advertisement soliciting written public comments regarding Petitioner's reinstatement petition was published in, *both*, the Hinton News *and* the Inter-Mountain on September 18, 2024, September 25, 2024, and October 2, 2024, and in The Pocahontas Times, of Marlinton, West Virginia, on September 19, 2024, September 26, 2024, and October 3, 2024. [Jt. Ex. 9] ODC received ten (10) letters in support of Petitioner's reinstatement, and ODC received no letters in opposition.

On May 14, 2026, the Hearing Panel Subcommittee (“HPS”) of the Lawyer Disciplinary Board, by its Chair Charles R. Steele, under Rule 3.33(c) of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, filed with the Court its written report and recommendation, recommending that the petition be denied. On May 21, 2026, the ODC, by counsel Kristin P. Halkias, filed a response consenting to the HPS Report. On May 22, 2026, the petitioner filed a response to the report, objecting to the HPS Report and requesting a hearing on the matter under Rule 3.33(c) of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure. This brief is submitted in support of Petitioner's request for reinstatement.

II. Statement of Facts

Petitioner was raised in Marlinton, West Virginia, and graduated from Marshall University in 1991. Following graduation, Petitioner was waitlisted at the West Virginia University College of Law and he enlisted in the United States Army. Petitioner joined the Army National Guard in the spring of 1992 and was placed on inactive Ready Reserves for the remainder of his eight-year commitment.

During that time, Petitioner began working as a law enforcement officer for the Marlinton Police Department, and later transferred to the Pocahontas County Sheriff's Department, where he focused on drug-related matters. He left law enforcement and worked for Child Protective Services for two years before leaving to attend law school in 2004.

Petitioner graduated from the West Virginia University College of Law in 2007, passed the bar exam and, after a slight delay due to the bankruptcy on his record, became a member of the West Virginia State Bar on November 6, 2007. While in law school, Petitioner met his current wife, Kim O'Brien from Pineville, WV, and they were married on March 19, 2009.

Petitioner was hired as a part-time assistant prosecutor, by then Pocahontas County Prosecuting Attorney Walter Weiford, at which time he handled magistrate court cases. He was later hired as a full-time assistant prosecutor by former Pocahontas County Prosecuting Attorney Donna Price, at which time he primarily handled abuse and neglect and juvenile cases.

In 2010, Petitioner unsuccessfully ran for County Commission and left the prosecutor's office in early 2011 to work in private practice for Mike Doss, a local sole practitioner. Petitioner worked for Mr. Doss until his indictment in August of 2012.

Petitioner served as an assistant prosecuting attorney for Pocahontas County during the time which the underlying misconduct occurred. Petitioner was indicted on two counts of sexual assault in the second degree and two counts of imposition of sexual intercourse on an incarcerated person. Petitioner self-reported the indictment to the ODC. The ODC opened a complaint regarding this matter on August 8, 2012, and the disciplinary proceedings were stayed pending the resolution of the criminal matter. The criminal charges against Petitioner were dismissed with prejudice on January 8, 2013, and the stay on the disciplinary proceedings was subsequently lifted.

Following the dismissal of the criminal case, the ODC renewed its request for a response, which was filed by Petitioner. A disciplinary proceeding was instituted against Petitioner by the Office of Disciplinary Counsel after a statement of charges by the Lawyer Disciplinary Board ("LDB") dated November 5, 2013, was submitted. A hearing was held on November 10 and 11, 2014 before the HPS of the LDB. The HPS found that the Petitioner had engaged in unethical conduct with three women while he was an Assistant Prosecutor. The unethical conduct occurred in the Petitioner's office while he was serving as an Assistant Prosecutor Attorney. The HPS determined that Petitioner's unethical conduct violated Rules 1.7(b), 8.1(a), 8.4(b), 8.4(c),

and 8.4(d) of the West Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct, and recommended a two (2) year suspension of Petitioner's Law License. By Order of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia submitted on October 6, 2015, and filed on November 18, 2015, with Justice Benjamin delivering the Opinion, Petitioner's Law License was Annulled for violating Rules 1.7(b), 8.1(a), 8.4(b), 8.4(c), and 8.4(d) of the West Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct. More specifically, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia issued an opinion annulling Petitioner's law license due to his intentional and repeated violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct, all while serving in a position of trust representing the State of West Virginia and other clients. The opinion became final and Petitioner's law license was annulled by Mandate issued December 22, 2015, and Petitioner was ordered to pay costs of \$7,471.30. Petitioner made payment of those costs in full on the 15th day of June 2021.

On or about June 12, 2024, Petitioner filed with the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia his Petition for Reinstatement.

III. Testimonials

The following individuals have provided written testimonials, describing Petitioner's character and ethical fitness for the practice of law. [Jt. Ex. 21]

A. Brian Smith

Brian Smith, lives in Marlinton and testified on behalf of Petitioner and also sent in a letter dated October 28, 2024. Mr. Smith said he met Petitioner in 2016 or 2017 when their kids were on the same soccer team, and they are now close friends. He has served in the local Cub Scout group together with Petitioner, as well as continuing to connect in the local soccer program. Mr. Smith says that his family has become very close friends with the Petitioner's family. He says that in the time that he has known Petitioner, he has only known him to be a man

of high character and proud to call a friend, and he states with certainty that Petitioner is not the same man he was before they met. Mr. Smith said he has never asked Petitioner for details regarding his past misconduct, but that both he and Petitioner have strong faith and that he hopes that Petitioner is judged as the man he knows him to be, rather than for his past mistakes. In conclusion, Mr. Smith offers that in the time he has known Petitioner, he has come to appreciate his connection to his faith and the life that Petitioner lives out daily based on his beliefs. Mr. Smith hopes that those involved in reviewing this case will judge Petitioner based on who he is now.

B. Mark and Terry Wagner

Mark and Terry Wagner, both from Marlinton, sent in a letter dated October 28, 2024, wherein they indicated they have known Petitioner for approximately forty (40) years. Mr. Mark Wagner, as a local retail grocery store manager, worked closely with Petitioner who has volunteered for the local food pantry. He has also observed him as a coach for elementary and middle school aged children, showing a commitment to serving the community and families, as well as a leader for a men's bible study group that he attended. Mr. Wagner offered that Petitioner gives back to the community with humble commitment and integrity. Mrs. Terry Wagner worked with Petitioner in his volunteer role on the Board of Trustees for the Pocahontas Memorial Hospital. Mrs. Wagner was the chief operations officer during this time until her retirement. She attended board meetings and served on committees with Petitioner and always found him to be focused and gathering all the information prior to voicing his opinions with a concern to make the best decisions for all involved. Mrs. Wagner further says that Petitioner put in countless hours educating himself and researching issues to guide his decisions. She believes Petitioner is truly committed to serving his community and has gained the respect of those

witnessing his efforts. The Wagners have observed the Petitioner as a father, husband and friend, and state that he and his wife have worked to build a strong family connection with their 3 children and they have instilled strong values and encouraged healthy interactions in them. They fully support Petitioner's petition to reinstate his law license.

C. Julie McNabb

Julie McNabb, *whose husband, Andrew McNabb*, sent a letter received by ODC on October 31, 2024. Mrs. McNabb said she has known Petitioner and his family for the majority of her adult life, and that he has been a friend and support system. Mrs. McNabb states that Petitioner has an amazing family and that he is an excellent member of the community. She believes that Petitioner has repented of his sins and that he exhibits good morals, and that he is bringing up his three kids according to God's Word. Mrs. McNabb also attends church where Petitioner is the lay speaker, that he coaches basketball and soccer for your people in his neighborhood, while also being a member of the Board of the Pocahontas Memorial Hospital. She reports that Petitioner volunteers countless hours supporting Pocahontas County and the community in which he lives. Mrs. McNabb believes restoring his law license would help his family, and he should be given another chance.

D. Michael R. Johnson

Michael R. Johnson, of Marlinton, sent a letter dated October 28, 2024, wherein he said he is a close friend of Petitioners. Mr. Johnson states that he is fully aware of Petitioner's behavior that resulted in the annulment of his law license and believes that annulment was an appropriate punishment for such egregious behavior, and that Petitioner has paid a steep price as a result. Mr. Johnson believes in redemption and spoke highly of Petitioner's wife and three children and his involvement in their church. Mr. Johnson submits that Petitioner is now the

consummate family man, totally devoted to his family and to live a Christian lifestyle, and is the picture of redemption. Mr. Johnson believes annulment of Petitioner's license was an appropriate punishment, and that Petitioner has paid a steep price. He also believes in redemption and second chances and he supports Petitioner's reinstatement petition.

E. Randall and Kathy Irvine

Randall and Kathy Irvine, both of Marlinton, sent a letter received by ODC on October 31, 2024. The Irvines shared that Petitioner was their legal counsel in the placement of their grandson with them as a foster placement, and ultimately adoption, until he lost his law license. They said they do not know the details surrounding the loss of his license, however for the last nearly 9 years they have observed Petitioner being active in the lives of his children and his community, including his serving on the Board of Trustees of Pocahontas Memorial Hospital. The Irvines believe the community would benefit by having Petitioner available to serve as legal counsel.

F. Samuel Mitchell

Samuel Mitchell, who owns and operates Mitchell Chevrolet in Marlinton, sent a letter dated October 30, 2024. He said he has known Petitioner and his family for fifty plus years and that Petitioner has always been a good citizen of Pocahontas County but not without making some mistakes. Mr. Mitchell goes on to say that he has witnessed tremendous growth in him over the past eight to ten years, and that Petitioner has become the kind of man that all parents would want to call their own. Mr. Mitchell says that Petitioner's growth in the community, church, as a husband and a father has been vast, and he believes Petitioner has paid his dues and deserves a second chance to continue his legal career and truly believes that the Petitioner's legal service would be a huge asset to our community and state.

G. Clint Carte

Clint Carte, *who also testified*, lives in Charleston and sent a letter dated November 1, 2024, wherein he shared that he is a criminal defense lawyer practicing in Charleston. He said he first met Petitioner when they attended law school and again in 2014 when Mr. Carte worked briefly as a public defender in Marlinton. Mr. Carte states that the Petitioner encouraged him to become more involved in the community. Mr. Carte considers the Petitioner a friend and that he has followed Petitioner's progress as he stayed involved in non-lawyer work, his church and serving his community. Mr. Carte acknowledged Petitioner made mistakes but has been actively engaged in the process of rehabilitation since that time and improving himself and his community. Mr. Carte further submits that Pocahontas County is a rural area that would benefit from Petitioner's reinstatement and the work he has done since the time of his annulment merits that second chance.

H. Phillip Anderson

Phillip Anderson, Marlinton Elementary School Principal, sent a letter received by ODC on November 4, 2024. He said Petitioner was the LSIC President for Marlinton Elementary School from 2016 to 2023, and that he has always been an advocate for the children. Mr. Anderson also noted that Petitioner spearheaded the building of a bus stop pavilion for the front of the school. He said that Petitioner sought funding and approval for the project. He said that Petitioner coaches boys and girls basketball at the Marlinton Elementary School, teaching players fundamentals of the game and life lessons. Mr. Anderson considers Petitioner a role model to the youth of the community through providing leadership to our youth. Mr. Anderson goes on to say that Petitioner and his wife, are raising their three children with moral values

consisting of honesty, integrity and respect for themselves as well as others. Finally, Mr. Anderson believes the community would benefit from Petitioner being reinstated.

I. Shelley Clark

Shelley Clark, who was later identified as Petitioner's first wife, sent a letter dated October 28, 2024, wherein she said she has known Petitioner since childhood. She said that although she does not know the charges and consequences of the initial investigation, she has intimate knowledge into the person Petitioner is today and further asserts that is the person that should be considered. Petitioner is recognized as a spiritual leader for others. Petitioner has made noticeable changes to include refraining from alcohol and friendships that would jeopardize his family life. Further, Petitioner is deeply rooted in his faith and making decisions based on biblical morals. Ms. Clark has great confidence in who Petitioner is today and believes he should be reinstated so that he may be able to impact the community positively as a leader, showing a renewed love of order and honesty and lawful practices. Ms. Clark asks the hearing panel to be open-minded and creative in affording Petitioner the opportunity to receive his law license.

J. Lloyd Arbogast

Lloyd Arbogast, of Buckeye, West Virginia, sent a letter dated October 18, 2024, wherein he stated that he has been a close friend of Petitioner's for the past five (5) years and finds him to be a reputable person. He said Petitioner is involved in sports, the 4-H club and active in his church. He went on to say that Petitioner takes good care of his wife and children, and that he would trust him to handle his legal affairs.

IV. Hearing

During the hearing held before the Hearing Panel Subcommittee on January 14, 2026, Petitioner called six (6) witnesses to testify on his behalf. These witnesses represent a true cross section of the witnesses available to him; as three are male and three are female, three knew the Petitioner prior to his losing his license while three did not know him until after the loss of his license, two of the witnesses are practicing attorneys while four witnesses are lay persons with various backgrounds and community involvement and represent the sentiment of Pocahontas County and the State of West Virginia. Petitioner also testified at the hearing, with all witnesses subject to cross examination as well as questions from the Hearing Panel Members. The ODC presented no witnesses.

All witnesses called, when asked whether Petitioner possesses the integrity to assume the practice of law, answered with unwavering certainty that the Petitioner does indeed possess integrity to practice law.

All witnesses called, when asked whether Petitioner possesses the moral character to assume the practice of law, again, answered with unwavering certainty that the Petitioner does indeed possess the moral character to practice law.

All witnesses called, when asked whether Petitioner possesses the legal competence to assume the practice of law, again, answered with unwavering certainty that the Petitioner does indeed possess the legal competence to practice law.

All witnesses called, when asked whether Petitioner's reinstatement would have an adverse effect on the public's confidence in the administration of justice, answered with unwavering certainty that the Petitioner's reinstatement to practice law would not have an adverse effect on the public's confidence in the administration of justice.

All witnesses called, when asked whether there is any likelihood of the person Petitioner is today engaging in unprofessional conduct, answered with unwavering certainty that there is no likelihood of Petitioner engaging in unprofessional conduct.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has identified five factors to evaluate whether a petitioner seeking reinstatement has adequately proven the criteria for reinstatement: (1) the nature of the original offense for which the petitioner was disciplined, (2) the petitioner's character, maturity, and experience at the time of discipline, (3) the petitioner's occupations and conduct in the time since discipline, (4) the time elapsed since the discipline, and (5) the petitioner's present competence in legal skills. In re Kohout Petition for Reinstatement, 919 S.E.2d 72 (W. Va. 2025); Lawyer Disciplinary Bd. v. Moore, 214 W. Va. 780, 591 S.E.2d 338 (2003). These factors inform whether the petitioner has met his burden of showing that he now possesses the integrity, moral character, and legal competence to resume the practice of law, demonstrating a record of rehabilitation, and providing sufficient evidence for this Court to conclude that reinstatement will not have a substantial adverse effect on the public confidence in the administration of justice. In re Kohout Petition for Reinstatement, 919 S.E.2d 72 (W. Va. 2025).

Here, the five factors strongly militate in favor of reinstating Petitioner's law license. First, while there is simply no denying the seriousness of Petitioner's original offense, as one notable thinker put it, "no one should be judged by the worst moment of his life." Second, at the time of the underlying misconduct, Petitioner was a completely lost soul without a moral compass; this drove his horrible actions. Third, since discipline, Petitioner has engaged in comprehensive and wide-ranging efforts to reform and rehabilitate himself, including without limitation, regularly participating in psychological treatment, throwing himself into work in his

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