**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS
OF WEST VIRGINIA**

SCA EFiled: Aug 27 2026
10:43AM EDT
Transaction ID 80474340

**In re: Petition for Reinstatement of
JARRELL LEE CLIFTON, II,
Petitioner,**

No. 24-330

BRIEF OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD

Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti [Bar No. 8806]
Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
rfcipoletti@wvdc.org
Kristin P. Halkias [Bar No. 7167]
Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
khalkias@wvdc.org
Lauren Hall Knight [Bar No. 13405]
lknight@wvdc.org
Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
West Virginia Judicial Tower
4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE, Suite 1200
Charleston, West Virginia 25304
(304) 558-7999
(304) 558-4015 – *facsimile*

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Proceedings

Petitioner Jarrell L. Clifton, II, (hereinafter “Petitioner”) was admitted to the West Virginia State Bar on November 6, 2007. On November 18, 2015, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia issued an opinion annulling Petitioner’s law license due to his intentional and repeated violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct.¹ [Jt. Ex. 1 at 55].²

On or about June 12, 2024, Petitioner filed with the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia his Petition for Reinstatement, and the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel (hereinafter “ODC”) commenced an investigation thereof. [Jt. Ex. 1]. The ODC reviewed the Petition, completed Reinstatement Questionnaire and additional documents provided therewith, and the file from the underlying disciplinary matter. The ODC obtained Petitioner’s state and federal criminal background records. [Jt. Ex. 13 and 15]. The ODC also obtained copies of Petitioner’s federal tax returns for the years 2015 through 2023 as well as his state tax returns for the years 2014 through 2023. [Jt. Ex. 16-20]. Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel took Petitioner’s sworn statement on January 30, 2025. [Jt. Ex. 11]. A legal advertisement soliciting written public comments regarding Petitioner’s reinstatement petition was published three (3) times in the *Hinton News*, and three (3) times in *The Pocahontas Times*. [Jt. Ex. 9]. The ODC received ten (10) letters supporting the reinstatement of Petitioner’s law license from the following individuals: Brian Smith, Mark and Terry Wagner, Julie McNabb, Michael Johnson, Randall and Kathy Irvine, Samuel Mitchell, Clint Carte, Phillip Anderson, Shelley Clark, and Lloyd Arbogast. [Jt. Ex. 21]. The ODC did not receive any letters voicing objection. On or about October 29, 2025, the ODC filed a report regarding this

¹ Pursuant to Rule 26 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure, the opinion became final and Petitioner’s law license was annulled by Mandate issued December 22, 2015. Petitioner was ordered to pay costs of \$7,471.30.

² Joint Exhibits 1 through 22 are organized by Bates numbers in the bottom right-hand corner of the documents.

matter with the Hearing Panel Subcommittee of the Lawyer Disciplinary Board (hereinafter “HPS”) pursuant to Rule 3.33 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure.

On January 14, 2026, this matter proceeded to hearing in Charleston, West Virginia. The HPS was comprised of Charles R. Steele, Esquire, Chairperson; Matthew L. Clark, Esquire; and Mark Blankenship, Layperson. Petitioner appeared *pro se*, and Kristin P. Halkias and Lauren Hall Knight, Lawyers Disciplinary Counsel, appeared on behalf of the ODC. The HPS heard testimony from several witnesses and Joint Exhibits 1 through 22 were admitted into evidence upon joint motion of Petitioner and ODC.

B. Underlying Disciplinary Matter

The HPS made the following findings of fact related to the underlying disciplinary matter that led to the annulment of Petitioner’s license to practice law. Petitioner served as an assistant prosecuting attorney for Pocahontas County during the time which the underlying misconduct occurred. Petitioner was indicted on two counts of sexual assault in the second degree and two counts of imposition of sexual intercourse on an incarcerated person. [Jt. Ex. 6 at 619-20]. The indictment alleged that on two occasions Petitioner unlawfully and feloniously engaged in sexual intercourse with an individual, T.S., by having her place her mouth on his penis, without her consent, and the lack of consent was the result of T.S. being threatened with incarceration. [Id.] The indictment further alleged that Petitioner engaged in this conduct with T.S. while she was incarcerated. [Id.] Petitioner self-reported the indictment to the ODC, and a complaint regarding this matter was initiated on August 8, 2012. [Jt. Ex. 1 at 123]. The disciplinary proceedings were stayed pending the resolution of the criminal matter. [Id.] The criminal charges against Petitioner

were dismissed with prejudice on January 8, 2013, and the stay on the disciplinary proceedings was subsequently lifted. [Jt. Ex. 6 at 627-31].³

Formal charges against Petitioner were filed with the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Appeals on November 5, 2013, alleging, in part, that Petitioner obtained, or requested, oral sex from T.S., K.M., and L.C., all of whom were directly and indirectly involved with the court system in Pocahontas County during the time in which Petitioner served as an assistant prosecuting attorney. [Jt. Ex. 1 at 3-14]. After a two-day evidentiary hearing, the HPS in that matter found that T.S. performed oral sex on Petitioner in his office and that he solicited, and was provided, sexually explicit pictures and videos from T.S. while she was on probation and participating in Day Report in violation of Rules 1.7(b), 8.4(c), and 8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. [Id. at 32-33]. The HPS also found that Petitioner provided false information to the ODC when he denied the conduct alleged in the indictment and that he provided false information to investigators about his relationship with T.S. in violation of Rules 8.1(a) and 8.4(b), respectively. [Id. at 34].

Regarding K.M., the HPS found that Petitioner attempted to require her to perform oral sex on him when she went to his office at the prosecutor's office to inquire about her son's criminal case in violation of Rules 1.7(b) and 8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. [Jt. Ex. 1 at 33]. The HPS also found that Petitioner knowingly provided false information in his Answer to the formal charges when he represented that he no longer possessed a copy of the videotaped sexual encounter between himself and K.M. in violation of Rule 8.4(b) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. [Id. at 34]. Regarding L.C., the HPS found that she performed oral sex on Petitioner in his office after she approached him with an inquiry about a criminal matter while she was both a

³ The indictment was dismissed because the investigators believed the sexual encounters between Petitioner and T.S. were consensual, and not because they believed they did not happen. [Jt. Ex. 1 at 67].

defendant and a victim in violation of Rules 1.7(b) and 8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. [Id. at 33]. The HPS recommended that Petitioner's law license be suspended for two years. [Id. at 52]. Both the ODC and Petitioner objected to the disposition recommended by the HPS, and the Court ultimately concluded that Petitioner's misconduct warranted annulment of his law license. [Jt. Ex. 1 at 55-103].

Regarding the findings of fact which formed the basis for this discipline, T.S. was indicted in Pocahontas County on two counts of possession with intent to deliver a controlled substance. [Jt. Ex. 1 at 62]. T.S. pled guilty to one count, and by order entered on March 19, 2010, she was sentenced to one to five years of incarceration, and her sentence was suspended on the condition that she complete two years of probation and participate in Day Report. [Id.] After T.S. began Day Report, Petitioner sent her a Facebook message in which he complimented a picture she posted of her "backside," and the two began ongoing correspondence. [Id.] T.S. communicated to Petitioner that she did not want to participate in Day Report and Petitioner invited her to stop by his office. [Id. at 63]. T.S. testified that she went to Petitioner's office three to four times in the summer of 2010, and that during these visits Petitioner asked to take nude pictures of her and asked her to perform oral sex on him. [Id.] T.S. testified that she complied with his requests because Petitioner told her that he did not "want to see her go back to jail" and she understood this to be a threat. [Id. at 63-64]. T.S. testified that she "started to give him oral sex" during her third visit to his office and that after her last visit to his office, she began sending Petitioner explicit pictures and videos of herself at his request. [Id. at 62-64].

In August 2011, the State Police and the FBI began to investigate Petitioner's relationship with T.S. following allegations by T.S. that her sexual relationship with Petitioner, while he was the assistant prosecuting attorney, was not consensual. [Jt. Ex. 1 at 65]. The investigators asked

T.S. to meet with Petitioner in April 2012 at his law office and for her to wear a wire. [Id.]⁴ During the meeting on April 19, 2012, Petitioner “repeatedly asked to take photos of T.S. and continually requested that T.S. touch his penis.” [Id.]

Petitioner was questioned by two investigators on May 29, 2012, and during this meeting Petitioner described T.S. as a professional acquaintance, claimed that they were not friends, and denied knowledge of her criminal background. [Jt. Ex. 1 at 66]. Later, after investigators began questioning him about whether he had a sexual relationship with T.S., Petitioner admitted that he received nude pictures from her. [Id.] Before the HPS, Lieutenant Robert Simon of the West Virginia State Police testified that investigators determined that the sexual encounters between Petitioner and T.S. were consensual and the above-referenced indictment was dismissed with prejudice. [Id. at 67]. In the underlying proceedings, Petitioner acknowledged that he received explicit pictures from T.S. and engaged in sexual banter with her on Facebook. [Id. at 68]. Petitioner also acknowledged that T.S. met with him in his office at the courthouse and that she exposed herself to him but denied that he ever had any physical contact with her. [Id.]

K.M. worked in a bar owned by Petitioner in the mid-1990s, and during this time she had a sexual relationship with Petitioner that included having sex at the bar. [Jt. Ex. 1 at 68]. K.M. testified before the HPS that Petitioner recorded a sexual encounter at the bar without her knowledge using the video security system. [Id.] K.M. testified that she discovered that Petitioner possessed this recording about two years later, and that she asked him to destroy it. [Id. at 68-69]. Prior to attending law school, Petitioner told K.M. that he had destroyed the recording, so they “called a truce.” [Id. at 69]. After Petitioner became licensed to practice law, he represented K.M.

⁴ Petitioner had left the Office of the Prosecuting Attorney at that time and was working in private practice in April 2012. [Jt. Ex. 1 at 65].

in a civil matter while he worked part-time as an assistant prosecuting attorney. [Id.] In March 2009, a criminal complaint was issued against K.M.'s son for brandishing, and shortly thereafter, K.M. encountered Petitioner at the grocery store and asked him for advice concerning her son's criminal charge. Petitioner then invited K.M. to his office to discuss the case. [Id.]

K.M. testified that when she met with Petitioner at his office, he informed her that he had not destroyed the recording of their prior sexual encounter like he had promised, but that he would be willing to destroy it under two conditions, the first of which was to show him her body. [Jt. Ex. 1 at 70]. K.M. testified that Petitioner then exposed his penis and urged her to "just touch it." [Id.] K.M. further testified that she was terrified for her son, so she proceeded to hold and kiss Petitioner's penis. [Id.] The criminal charge against K.M.'s son was dismissed in 2009 upon a motion filed by Petitioner on behalf of the State. [Id. at 71]. Before the HPS in the underlying matter, Petitioner testified that K.M.'s description of this meeting was largely fabricated, and he denied that he exposed his penis to K.M. and that she kissed his penis. [Id.] Petitioner admitted that contrary to the assertions set forth in his Answer, the recording of his prior sexual encounter with K.M. had not been destroyed when he told K.M. that he had done so. [Id.]

L.C. had a sexual encounter with Petitioner in the summer of 1995. [Jt. Ex. 1 at 72]. L.C. testified before the HPS in the underlying matter that she was the victim of a theft and that she met with Petitioner at his office to discuss this matter. [Id.] L.C. testified that the conversation then turned to sex, and that she performed oral sex on Petitioner in his office during this visit. [Id. at 73]. Prior to performing oral sex on Petitioner, L.C. was the victim of domestic violence and criminal charges were filed against her then-boyfriend. [Id.] L.C. testified that when she met with Petitioner to see about dropping the domestic violence protective order against her then-boyfriend, he "mentioned something about seeing [her] breasts." [Id.] Later, L.C. was charged with

destruction of property in May 2009 for breaking her then-boyfriend's windshield, and she entered into a diversion agreement, and this case was ultimately dismissed. [Id. at 74]. Both the diversion agreement and dismissal order were signed off on by Petitioner. [Id.] L.C. testified that she engaged in oral sex with Petitioner at his office on one or two more occasions after her first visit. [Id.] Before the HPS, Petitioner denied having any sexual contact with L.C. in his office at the courthouse. [Id. at 74-75].

At his sworn statement on January 30, 2025, Petitioner testified that he was aware that T.S. had some involvement with the Pocahontas County court system in 2009. [Jt. Ex. 11 at 1205]. Petitioner testified that he may have been involved in her arraignment in magistrate court, but after her case went upstairs, he did not have anything to do with it, although he was aware that she was doing work at the courthouse on Day Report. [Id.] He said that after she was no longer doing work at the courthouse, Petitioner and T.S. began communicating through Facebook. [Id.] Petitioner described their communication as being "innocent enough" initially, but that it did not take long for it to become "highly inappropriate." [Id.] Petitioner testified that during this time T.S. met with him at his office several times, and that in all but three of those visits they discussed her work with the Prevention Coalition and efforts to get a bowling alley built in the community. [Id.] Petitioner testified that T.S. exposed herself to him in his office on two occasions, and that on another occasion, she handed him her phone through his office window, and he took a sexual picture of himself on her phone. [Id. at 1206]. Petitioner testified that throughout this time he engaged in sexual conversation with T.S., and that he received pictures and videos from T.S. that were sexual in nature. [Id.] Petitioner denied that anything else of a sexual nature happened during her visits to his office. [Id.]

Petitioner testified that the last time he met with T.S. in his office, she asked him to write a letter on her behalf to get her off Day Report. [Jt. Ex. 11 at 1206]. Petitioner testified that it was at that point that he realized she was still on Day Report, and he decided to cut off communication with T.S. after this as he was “crossing a boundary” that he did not want to cross. [Id. at 1206-1207]. Petitioner acknowledged that he was not truthful with investigators when he was questioned regarding his relationship with T.S., stating that he was trying to “shield” himself and “wanted to remove [himself] as far away from her as possible at that point.” [Id. at 1207].

Petitioner testified that he met K.M. in the mid-1990s through his work in the restaurant and bar industry, and that he represented her on two separate civil matters after he became licensed to practice law. [Jt. Ex. 11 at 1200]. Petitioner testified that he had a long-standing sexual relationship with K.M. throughout the years which ended while he was in law school. [Id. at 1201]. Regarding the videotape of his sexual encounter with K.M., Petitioner testified that he had several videotapes of that nature and, around the time he went to law school, he set them on fire. [Id. at 1201].⁵ Petitioner said that he believed the recording with K.M. was part of that collection, and that he only realized he still had this video sometime “in the process of dealing with the Statement of Charges.” [Id.]⁶ During his sworn statement, Petitioner denied that he exposed himself to K.M. during the meeting in his office at the courthouse when they discussed the criminal charge pending against her son. [Id. at 1203]. Petitioner acknowledged that there was likely inappropriate banter but denied that he made any sexual advances toward K.M. during this meeting. [Id.]

⁵ K.M. testified at the first hearing that Petitioner recorded their sexual encounter without her knowledge using the bar’s video security system. [Jt. Ex. 1 at 68]. She said she did not know of the recording for two years, and upon discovering the recording, she asked him to get rid of it. [Id. at 69] Despite reassuring K.M. that he had destroyed it, Petitioner hung on to the video for more than a decade, never destroying it until after his initial disciplinary hearing. [Id. at 325-26].

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